





This manual has been prepared to help you enjoy your new bike to the fullest. Please read it carefully. This manual provides guidelines for the periodic checks you need to carry out, so that you can properly maintain your bike.

If you have any questions or concerns after reading this manual, do not hesitate to talk to your regular Orbea dealer. There you will find personnel you can trust for the most complicated tasks and the best advice available.

Any deviation from the instructions contained in this manual will be the responsibility of the user of the bicycle.

All individuals must, at least, read the chapter on "Guidelines for the safe use of your bicycle" in this manual. Parents and guardians of minors must explain the chapter "Guidelines for the safe use of your bicycle" to children who are unable to read and comprehend it. It is very important that you read the chapter "Guidelines for the safe use of your bicycle" before riding your new bike even if you have been riding for years.

This manual covers all Orbea models. There are numerous Orbea models with different specifications. Therefore, this Manual will contain some information that does not apply to your bicycle model. Some illustrations may vary with respect to the models in the current catalog.

Note: We may refer you to the supplier manual for suspension forks and several other parts. If you have not received the manual corresponding to those parts, you can download it from the supplier's website. If you are not able to do so, please contact us or your authorized dealer.

If you have any questions after reading this manual or the Orbea website, please talk with your authorized Orbea dealer. If you have a problem that your authorized dealer is unable to resolve, please contact us by email, phone or online.

Polígono I. Goitondo 48269 MALLABIA (Bizkaia) Apdo. 1 - 20600 EIBAR (Gipuzkoa) tel. + 34 943 17 19 50 Fax +34 943 17 43 97 Email: orbea@orbea.com

www.orbea.com

CONGRATULATIONS

You have chosen a bicycle that WE have proudly manufactured. We thank you for your trust in us. We have been manufacturing bicycles for more than a century, and all of our products are the result of our lengthy experience.

Your bicycle is the product of continuous research and infinite testing that have led to its manufacture with the best components and highest levels of quality.

The assembly and initial adjustment of your Orbea bicycle requires special tools and skills; for that reason, it should only be performed by your authorized dealer.

DEFINITIONS

In this manual, the word WARNING indicates potentially hazardous situations which, if not avoided, could result in serious injury or even death.

In this manual, the word CAUTION indicates potentially hazardous situations or unsafe practices that could result in minor to moderate injury.

This manual covers the entire Orbea bicycle range, which is made up of two types of bicycles.

Below is a diagram to help you identify the most important elements of your bike. Understanding them will help you to better comprehend this manual.





CONTENTS

MANUAL SPECIFICATIONS	. 34
CONGRATULATIONS	. 34
DEFINITIONS	. 34
CONTENTS	. 35
GUIDE TO USING YOUR BICYCLE	. 36
1. Before vour first ride	. 36
2. Before each ride: check your bike	. 36
Check that the wheels are trued	. 36
Check tire pressure	. 36
Check your brakes	. 36
Check that both wheels are secured	. 37
Check the handlebar and stem for signs of fatigue or increased tension	. 37
Check the adjustment of the suspension	. 37
Check the lighting system	. 37
Check the handlebar	. 37
Check the saddle	. 37
3. Riding safely	. 37
Wear a helmet	. 37
Be aware of local traffic laws for bicycles	. 37
Do not perform stunts or other unsafe activities with your bike	. 37
Ride defensively	. 37
Watch the road	. 37
Watch the cars you are going to pass	. 38
Be careful when riding in low-light conditions	. 38
Avoid letting water enter any bearings	. 38
Use caution when braking	. 38
Be careful when riding in wet conditions	. 38
Be especially careful when riding off the asphalt	. 38
Keep your bicycle in perfect conditions	. 38
Be careful	. 38
4. General recommendations	. 38
Keep your bike clean	. 38
Store your bike in an appropriate place	. 38
Protect your bicycle from thieves	. 39
Protect your bicycle from possible bumps	. 39
Use the proper technique when shifting gears	. 39
Prevent the handlebar from striking the frame	. 39

Never change the fork, frame or components	39
5. Children	39
Training wheels	39
INSPECTION, ADJUSTMENT AND LUBRICATION OF YOUR BICYCLE	40
1. Handlebar, bar ends and stems	40
2. Saddle and seatpost	41
3. Pedals	42
4. The drivetrain: Pedals, Chainring, Chain and Cassette	43
5. Gear shifter	44
Traditional drivetrain	44
Internal gear hub drivetrain	47
6. Fork and headset	47
Braking system	48
Rim braking systems	48
Hydraulic disc brakes	50
Mechanical disc brakes	51
Drum brakes	52
Coaster brakes	53
7. Wheels	53
Removing and installing wheels with gear shifting mechanisms	55
Schrader and Presta valves	55
Tubeless wheels	55
Installing the tire	56
8. Reflectors	57
9. Suspension systems	57
Suspension systems: Forks	57
Suspension systems: rear suspension	57
10. Caring for your frame and fork	58
11. Accessories	58
MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE	60
ORBEA RECOMMENDATIONS	61
	01 C1
	01

ORBEA

GUIDE TO USING YOUR BICYCLE

IMPORTANT!

READ AND FOLLOW THE INSTRUCTIONS IN THIS MANUAL BEFORE USING YOUR BICYCLE

A bicycle is small means of transport that is less powerful than other vehicles; therefore, your safety cannot be stressed enough. This chapter contains recommendations that will help you ride as safely as possible.

CONDITIONS FOR USE

Not using your bicycle in line with the specified conditions for use would imply restrictions to your warranty.

Bicycles are designed to resist the weight of a person up to 100 kg and 10 kg of cargo.

Mountain bikes. For use on an asphalt, gravel surfaces or rough trails, and any type of terrain in which the tires could momentarily lose contact with the ground.

Road bikes. For use on asphalt surfaces where the tires are always in contact with the ground. **Recreation bikes.** For use on asphalt and gravel surfaces or rough terrain where the tires are always in contact with the ground.

1. BEFORE YOUR FIRST RIDE

Your authorized dealer should provide you a bicycle that fits you correctly. In a standing position on your bike, make sure there is adequate space between your groin and the top tube: For MTB bikes, this distance should be between 50-75mm. For all other bikes, this distance should be 25mm.

Practice at slow speeds

Before riding at high speeds or under adverse conditions, you need to learn the functions and characteristics of all of your bike's mechanisms by riding on flat roads without traffic. That way, you can get to know all of the features of your bicycle.

If you want any operational features other than those that come standard to your bicycle (for example: a brake force modulator), consult your authorized dealer.

Avoid excessive vibrations or imbalances on the front wheel

Heavier cyclists with large bikes sometimes experience "excessive vibration," "harmonic oscillation" or "frame vibration" at certain speeds. If you experience this, reduce your speed and take your bike to an authorized dealer for inspection and repair. **WARNING** Excessive vibration can cause you to lose control and fall. If you feel excessive vibration, immediately reduce your speed and take your bicycle to your authorized dealer.

Make sure your accessories are compatible and safe:

To personalize your bike, various components can be changed and different accessories can be added. Not all accessories are compatible or safe. If you are not sure if a component is adequate or safe, talk to your authorized dealer.

CAUTION Inappropriate components or assemblies on your bicycle could exert unknown tension on your bike. This stress could cause a failure that makes you lose control and fall. Before adding or changing any element on your bicycle, talk to your authorized dealer.

2. BEFORE EACH RIDE: CHECK YOUR BIKE

Before each ride, check your bike and its components using the following checklist. This list provides some guidelines, but is not to be considered a complete inspection. Remember that if you detect any problems with your bike, and you are not able to repair them, you must take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Check that the wheels are trued

Spin each wheel and check for brake pad and frame clearance. If the wheel spin is not uniform, take your bike to an authorized dealer.

Check tire pressure

Inflate your tires to the pressure indicated on the side of the tire. You should also take your own weight into consideration. High pressure yields better performance on hard surfaces like asphalt, while lower pressures are best for off-road rides.

CAUTION Air hoses at gas stations inflate wheels too quickly and indicate inaccurate pressures. Always use hand pumps to inflate your tires.

Check your brakes

The brake lever on right side of the handlebar activates the rear brake and the lever on the left activates the front brake, unless local legislation indicates otherwise.

Check that the front and rear brakes are working properly. Orbea uses different types of brakes:

- Rim brakes: the brake levers are connected to brake shoes that squeeze the wheel rim.

- Disc brakes: the brake levers are connected to brake pads that squeeze the brake disc.
- *Drum brakes:* the brake levers are connected to the hub of the wheel by a cable, and a minimum of 15mm is needed to stop the bike.



Follow the inspection instructions for the type of brakes on your bike. If your brake system does not pass the inspection specified in the "Inspection, adjustment and lubrication of your bike" chapter, take your bike to your authorized dealer.

WARNING If your brakes are not working correctly, you may lose control and fall. Carefully inspect the brake system before each ride. Do not use the bike until any problem that may arise with the brake system has been resolved.

Check that both wheels are secured

For a safer ride, your bike wheels must be firmly secured to the fork and frame. The wheels are secured by way of bolts or quick-release mechanisms, which allow you to install and remove wheels without tools.

Check the handlebar and stem for signs of fatigue or increased tension

Carefully inspect the handlebar and stem for signs of fatigue: scratches, cracks, dents, deformities and discoloring. If any part shows signs of fatigue or damage, change it before riding your bike. Likewise, check that the handlebar ends and extensions are plugged.

Check the adjustment of the suspension

Make sure that the suspension components are adjusted to your preference, and that no suspension element is at its limit. The suspension system affects your bike's performance; therefore, proper adjustment is very important. If the suspension system is compromised to a point where the fork is blocked, you could lose control. For more information about how to adjust the suspension system, see the chapter on "Inspection adjustment and lubrication of your bike" or the manual for the suspension system that may have come with your bike.

Check the lighting system

Inspect the angles and function of the front and rear lighting and signaling systems. These should be kept clean to work properly.

Check the handlebar

Make sure the stem and the handlebar are correctly positioned and tightened, and that the bell is working properly.

Check the saddle

The saddle must be positioned at the proper height for your use and height. Moreover, you must also check that the seatpost and seat are correctly positioned and tightened.

3. RIDING SAFELY

Wear a helmet

You must ALWAYS WEAR A HELMET, and when riding on public roadways, you must use the SIGNALING SYSTEMS provided with your bike.

An unprotected head is very fragile, even in the event of a minor bump, but wearing a helmet that complies with EC safety regulations or other recognized legislation could reduce that risk. Eye protection and proper clothing are also recommended.

Be aware of local traffic laws for bicycles

Most states have specific laws for cyclists. Cycling clubs or the Department of Transportation (or its equivalent) in your area should be able to provide you information in that regard. Some of the most important regulations are:

- Use the appropriate hand signals
- When riding with other cyclists, form a single-file line
- Ride on the correct side of the road; never against traffic

- Expect the unexpected and ride defensively. Cyclists are difficult to see, and many drivers are unaccustomed to recognizing the rights of cyclists.

Do not perform stunts or other unsafe activities with your bike

Many cycling accidents can be avoided by using common sense. Some examples: - Do not ride "no hands": the slightest imperfection in the road could cause a vibration or sudden turn of the front wheel.

- Do not ride with objects hanging from the handlebars or any other part of the frame: they could get stuck in the spokes and cause the handlebars to jerk suddenly, making you lose control of your bicycle.

Do not ride under the effects of alcohol or medicines that cause drowsiness. Bicycles require good coordination of movements, and your must always be alert to your surroundings.
Do not carry anyone on your bicycle. Standard bikes are not designed to hold the additional weight of a second rider. Moreover, the extra weight makes the bicycle much harder to turn and stop.

Ride defensively

To pedestrians, drivers and other cyclists, you are not as visible as a car. You must always beware of dangerous situations and be prepared to stop.

Watch the road

Be prepared to avoid potholes, sewer grates or shoulders, since they could cause your wheels to skid. When maneuvering around an obstacle, try to do so at a 90° angle, and if you are unsure



Watch the cars you are going to pass

If a car suddenly crosses your path or someone suddenly opens the door of a parked car you are going to pass, you could have a serious accident. Install a bell on your bike to alert others of your presence.

Be careful when riding in low-light conditions

Your bike is equipped with a complete range of reflectors. Keep them clean and properly positioned. Though reflectors help you to be seen, they do not provide emit light. Use a front and rear light when riding in low light.

Also, you should wear light-colored, shiny and reflective clothing, especially at night, to make you more visible.

WARNING A cyclist without the proper lighting equipment may not have adequate visibility, and others may not see him/her either. This could cause accidents with severe consequences for the cyclist. Avoid these situations by installing a front and rear light, in addition to wearing light-colored, easily-visible clothing.

Avoid letting water enter any bearings

Your bike's bearings allow the various parts of the bike to move smoothly. Corrosion occurs when water comes into contact with metal; therefore, it should be avoided.

Avoid cleaning your bike with power washing systems like those used for cars.

Use caution when braking

Always maintain a safe distance from vehicles and other objects. Adjust the distance to your braking capacity.

If your bike has two brake levers, squeeze them at the same time. Excessive use of the front lever, and braking with the front brake lever alone, could cause the rear wheel to lose contact with the ground and make you lose control.

Many new brake models are very powerful and are able to stop the bike on wet or muddy terrain. If you notice that your brakes are too strong for your needs, take your bike to your authorized dealer for adjustment or to change the braking system.

WARNING If you apply excessive force, the rear wheel could lose contact with the ground, or the front wheel could slip, making you lose control and fall. Brake with both sides at the same time and

shift your weight to the back of the bike when braking.

Be careful when riding in wet conditions

There is no brake, regardless of design, that is as efficient in wet conditions as in dry. Though the brakes are trued, lubricated and in good operating conditions, in wet conditions, the braking system requires greater force in the levers and braking distance.

Rain reduces both visibility and traction. Ride at lower speeds around curves, manhole covers and crosswalks in rainy or wet conditions.

Be especially careful when riding off the asphalt

- Ride in marked areas.

- Avoid rocks, branches and dips.
- Never ride on an unpaved road or path with a road or urban bike.
- Wear proper clothing and protection, such as a helmet, glasses and gloves.

- When nearing a descent, slow down, and keep your weight back and low. Use the rear brake more than the front.

Keep your bicycle in perfect conditions

Bicycles are not indestructible: like any machine, each part of the bike has a service life limited to tension and fatigue. Fatigue refers to minor tensions that, when repeated a finite number of cycles, can compromise the integrity of the material. The service life varies according to its design, material, use and maintenance. Lighter frames generally have a longer service life than heavier frames, and premium bikes need greater care and more frequent inspections.

Be careful

It is preferable that you always ride accompanied. Your companion will be able to help you immediately in the event you have any trouble or an accident. Also, you should never forget to take a puncture repair kit or a spare inner tube and tire levers with you on all of your rides. You should also consider taking a multi-tool specific to your bike and a first aid kit if you are planning to ride long distances.

4. GENERAL RECOMMENDATIONS

Keep your bike clean

In order for your bike to work properly, it must be kept clean.

Store your bike in an appropriate place

When you are not using your bike, keep it in an area where it is protected from the rain, snow and sun. Rain and snow can cause the metal to corrode. Ultraviolet rays from the sun can disco-

castellano | english | français | italiano | deutsch



lor the paint or dry rot the bike's rubber or plastic components.

When storing the bike, lift it off the ground and leave the tires at half their pressure. Do not leave the bicycle near electric motors, since the ozone emitted by the motors destroys rubber and paint. Before using the bicycle again, make sure it is in optimum condition.

Protect your bicycle from thieves

Your new bicycle is very attractive to thieves. You can insure your bike in several ways:

- Register your bicycle in a local police file.
- Purchase and use a lock. A good lock is effective against knives and saws. Follow the recommendations for use. Never leave your bike unlocked.

- If you have quick-release mechanisms on the wheels, lock the wheels to the frame. If there is a quick-release mechanism on the saddle, you should take the saddle with you when the bicycle is locked. However, you should avoid allowing water to enter the frame through the seatpost.

Protect your bicycle from possible bumps

Always park your bike in areas where it is out of the way of moving vehicles and ensure that it is in a stable position so that it does not fall. Do not lean the bike against the cassette, since it can be damaged or become dirty. Keep the bike from falling, since this could damage the handle-bars or the saddle, etc.

Also, the improper use of a luggage carrier could damage the bike.

Use the proper technique when shifting gears

Some Orbea bikes are equipped with two gear shifting systems:

- One is a "derailleur" drivetrain in which the chain moves from one toothed cog to another.
- In the others, the shifting system is situated in the rear internal hub.

Read the instructions below depending on the gear shift system you have:

Traditional shifter

The left shifter controls the front derailleur, and the right shifter controls the rear derailleur. Choose the gear ratio that offers you the most comfort when pedaling.

You can only shift when the chain is moving forwards. Never try to shift gears when stopped or moving the chain backwards. Whenever you are going to shift, reduce the force transmitted to the chain, since this could hinder the shift and wear out the chain and cassette. You should never shift on uneven surfaces.

Internal shifter

This system can shift when the chain is moving forward, but it can also shift when stopped or moving backward. Whenever you shift, reduce the force transmitted to the chain to facilitate the

shift. Choose the gear ratio that offers you the most comfort when pedaling.

Prevent the handlebar from striking the frame

In some bikes, the front wheel can rotate to extreme angles, and the handlebar can strike the frame. Avoid this impact by adding pads to the end of the handlebar or to the frame itself.

Never change the fork, frame or components

A modification to any part of the bicycle, including the frame, fork or any other component could make your bicycle unsafe. For example, poor paintwork could reduce the rigidity of the frame.

Changing the fork of your bicycle could affect the bicycle's headset or create undesired tension.

Never install a suspension fork on a road bike.

If you want to change the fork of your bicycle, talk to your authorized dealer about the different compatible options.

Any modification to the frame, fork or components means that the bicycle no longer complies with our specifications and, therefore, would render the bicycle's warranty void.

CAUTION Never modify the frameset. Never sand, drill, fill or disassemble any excess retaining devices or the like. An improper modification could cause you to lose control and fall.

5. CHILDREN

Proper supervision of children and all who are learning to ride a bike, practicing safety on the road and abiding traffic regulations are critical to their training. Explain everything presented in this first chapter to your child before he or she rides the bike for the first time. Make the following basic rule very clear to your child:

CHILDREN MUST ALWAYS WEAR A HELMET WHEN RIDING A BICYCLE OR TRICYCLE.

Training wheels

Some Orbea models are equipped with training wheels. This way, children can learn to ride with these wheels and develop proper control of the bike. Until the child's skill on the bike has been fully developed, the child should always be supervised by an adult.

Installing training wheels

- Check that the tires of the bike are correctly inflated.

- Position the bicycle on a flat surface.



- Loosen the nuts of the rear hub and follow the specifications in chapter 2.

- Put the bicycle upright and position the training wheels about 6mm from the ground. Make sure the height is the same on both sides of the bicycle.

- Retighten the nuts as specified in the chapter "Inspection, adjustment and lubrication of your bicycle", including how to adjust the tension of the chain.

- Inspect the anchoring of the wheel as specified in that chapter.

Readjust the wheels as the child becomes more skilled

As the child becomes more comfortable on the bike, gradually increase the distance of the training wheels from the ground until the child no longer needs them.

INSPECTION, ADJUSTMENT AND LUBRICATION OF YOUR BICYCLE

This chapter addresses the inspection intervals to follow for each component of your bicycle, as well as the instructions for adjustment and lubrication. If during inspection, you find that any of the pieces does not satisfy the requirements for operation, the bicycle should not be used until that issue has been repaired, the piece replaced or the bike taken to your authorized dealer.

The inspection interval for each component is based on a regimen of normal use. If you use your bicycle more than normal, under adverse weather conditions, like rain or snow, or on unpaved roads, maintenance should be performed more often than indicated in this chapter.

Bicycles are not indestructible: like any machine, the different parts of the bike have a service life limited to wear and tear, tension and fatigue. Fatigue refers to small magnitude forces that, due to repetition in a large number of cycles, could compromise the integrity of the material. The service life of the different parts varies according to its design, material, use and maintenance. Some possible signs of bicycle fatigue are: dents, cracks, scratches, deformities and discoloring.

WARNING If during inspection, you find that any of the pieces does not satisfy the requirements for operation, the bicycle should not be used until that issue has been repaired, the piece replaced or the bike taken to your authorized dealer.

What is torque?

Torque is a measure of the force needed to rotate an object about an axis, like a screw or bolt. These measurements are made using a dynamometric wrench. The indicated specifications for torque are guidelines to help you determine the correct tightness of the different pieces and their threads.

It is important to respect the torque specifications so the threads are not over-exerted. Applying greater torque than recommended to a piece does not provide greater fastening, but could cause the piece to be damaged or rendered unusable.

1. HANDLEBAR, BAR ENDS AND STEMS

The handlebar is the part of your bike that you hold with your hands when riding. Controlling the bicycle is the responsibility of the rider. Moreover, the handlebar and saddle define the cyclist's position on the bike. You must make sure that the position is as ergonomic as possible. The handlebar is connected to the rest of the assembly through the stem. This section will explain how to inspect, adjust and lubricate handlebars, stems and bar ends.

Never allow the bar ends to come into contact with any object that could cause you to lose control of the bicycle. The bar ends have been designed exclusively to support your hands during ascents. Make sure the bar ends are facing forward at an angle greater than 15_ with respect to the ground.

There are two types of stems:

- *Traditional (quill) stem:* has a tube that fits inside the fork steerer tube using an adjustable wedge.
- Ahead (threadless) stem: attaches to the outside of the steerer tube.

Inspection

If you have any doubts about the reliability of your handlebar, take your bicycle to your authorised dealer. Once a month, you must ensure that the stem is aligned with the front wheel. Check the connection between the stem and the handlebar by moving it against the front wheel. You should also inspect the safety of the handlebars and the bar ends by checking that the handlebars do not turn independently of the stem and that the bar ends to do not move independently of the handlebar. Make sure no cables are stretched or crimped when rotating the handlebar. Check that all bolts are tightened. You should always heed the torque indicated by the piece. If that information is not available, it will vary based on the size of the Allen wrench required for the bold:

	N	m	Lb	.In	Kg.	.cm
Allen wrench size (mm)	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max	Min.	Max.
3	2,5	3	22	27	25	31
4	4	5	35	44	41	51
5	6	8	53	71	61	82
6	11	15	97	133	112	153

ORBEA

Adjustment

The handlebar position and angle depend on the user and his/her comfort, efficiency and balance. Your hands must be in a comfortable position in which the controls can be easily handled. If your hands, arms or shoulders are in an uncomfortable position, you should adjust the handlebar or look for components that better meet your needs. Check with your authorized dealer. Some handlebars have marks that indicate where they can be cut. If your handlebar does not have these marks, do not shorten it. If you want to shorten it but are unsure, please check with your authorized dealer.

Adjusting the handlebar angle

- Loosen the bolt in the stem clamp enough to be able to turn it.
- Position the handlebar at the desired angle, and check that the stem is centered.
- Tighten it as specified in the inspection.

Adjusting the stem inclination angle

- Loosen the stem angle adjuster bolt until you can turn it.
- Position the stem at the desired angle.
- Adjust the bolt as specified in the inspection.

Changing handlebar height with a traditional (quill) stem

Al requerirse ciertos conocimientos y herramientas especiales, es conveniente que sea hecho Since this process requires certain skills and special tools, we recommend it be performed by your dealer.

- Loosen the stem binder bolt with two turns counterclockwise.
- Lightly tap the bolt with a wooden or plastic mallet to unlock the stem cone.
- Adjust the stem to the desired height.

- Re-tighten the bolt and verify that the handlebar is perpendicular to the front wheel. Do not over-tighten the bolt; it could break and seriously compromise your safety.

- Check that the handlebar binder bolt is sufficiently tightened by applying lateral pressure to the handlebar while holding the wheel between your legs.



Note: If your bicycle is equipped with an ahead (threadless) stem, there are practically no options for regulating handlebar height. Therefore, we ask that you consult your dealer and do not perform any adjustments yourself.

2. SADDLE AND SEATPOST

The saddle is where you sit on the bike when riding, and it is supported by a seatpost. The seatpost is connected to the frame with a clamp or quick release. Proper adjustment of each component is important for your safety, comfort and pedaling efficiency. This section will talk about how to inspect, adjust and lubricate your saddle, seatpost and clamp.



Inspection

Once a month, you need to inspect the quick-release of the seatpost or seat tube clamp. Make sure that the saddle is secured to the frame assembly and has no horizontal, vertical or rotational movement with respect the axis of the seat tube. If you notice any of these types of movements, properly readjust all connections.

You should always heed the torque indicated by the piece. If that information is not available, it will vary based on the size of the Allen wrench required for the bold:

	N	m	Lb	.In	Kg.	cm
Allen wrench size (mm)	Min.	Max.	Min.	Max	Min.	Max.
3	2,5	3	22	27	25	31
4	4	5	35	44	41	51
5	6	8	53	71	61	82
6	11	15	97	133	112	153





Adjustment

Saddle height is very important for your comfort, safety and pedaling efficiency. The incline of the saddle affects your comfort. Changing the saddle angle affects the distribution of weight between the handlebar and the saddle.

When properly adjusted, the saddle is reasonably comfortable even when riding long distances.

WARNING A poorly adjusted saddle or unsuitable support of the pelvic area could affect the nervous system and blood vessels with extended use of your bike. Change the saddle if it causes pain or numbness.

Adjusting the saddle angle

- Loosen the saddle bolt so that it can move somewhat.
- The adjustment of the saddle is very personal. Start with the saddle parallel to the ground, or slightly angled forward on full suspension bikes.
- Tighten the saddle bolt, as indicated in the inspection.



Adjusting saddle height

- Loosen the quick-release or saddle bolt.

- Raise or lower the seatpost. The average height of the saddle is calculated such that you can touch the ground on tiptoes of both feet at the same time.

- Always ensure that the seat post is inserted within the seat tube above the minimun insertion levelRe-tighten the quick-release or saddle bolt.

WARNING A seatpost that is too high could damage the bicycle and cause you to lose control and fall. Make sure the minimum insertion mark of the seatpost is inside the seat tube.

Lubrication

The seatpost should be lubricated annually. To do so:

- Loosen the quick-release or saddle bolt to remove the seatpost from the frame.
- Clean the seatpost and remove the old grease if necessary.
- Apply a new layer of lubricant.
- Insert the seatpost in the frame.

- Adjust the seatpost height, align the saddle with the frame and tighten the quick-release or the saddle bolt.

3. PEDALS

Pedals are the part of the bicycle where you put your feet. Your control and safety on the bike depend on the security of the connection between the pedal and your foot. For recreational use in flat areas, a pair of soft-soled shoes is sufficient. For more intense use, the pedal system should help keep your feet on the pedals.

Orbea uses different types of pedals:

- Clipless pedals that snap into a cleat in the sole of the cyclist's specialized shoe.
- Pedals without any type of attachment system.

If your bicycle is equipped with pedals that do not satisfy your needs, talk to your dealer about this issue.

WARNING While riding your bike, your shoes should be in contact with the pedals; otherwise, you could lose control of your bicycle and fall. When you are nearing a stop, you should be able to easily remove your feet from the pedals. Always remove one foot from the pedal before completely stopping the bike.

Before using your bicycle for the first time, if you have clipless pedals, you should familiarize yourself with them and practice getting into and out of the pedals in a stationary position. Once

this movement is natural, practice in a flat area without traffic. While pedaling, watch the road. If you are looking at the pedals, you may not see the obstacles ahead.

Do not use clipless pedals with street shoes, since your feet will not have a good support base on the pedal.

Remove at least one foot from the pedal before stopping the bicycle completely.

Inspection

Before every use, you should clean both the cleats and the pedals, since any dirt could interfere with the proper functioning of the mechanism.

Every three months, check that the pedal reflectors are clean and correctly positioned. Make sure the pedals are properly secured to the crank arms.

To check that the pedal bearings are well-adjusted, move the pedals up and down and left to right. If you feel that anything is loose or too stiff, take the bicycle to your dealer so they can be adjusted, lubricated or replaced. The pedal-to-crank arm torque should be 40-43Nm.

Adjustment

Improper installation of the cleats could cause physical injury; therefore, cleats should be positioned by the authorized dealer. In most clipless pedals, the force needed to insert and remove your foot can be regulated.

Getting into clipless pedals

Fit the front of the cleat into the front of the pedal and push downwards with your foot. It will "click" when it is in position.

Check that the connection is secure by rotating the pedal. If your shoe comes out, repeat the previous step.

To mount your bike, push the pedal downwards while pushing forwards with the other foot, while sitting on the saddle.

Once in motion, insert your other foot into the pedal using the same technique.

Getting out of clipless pedals

Twist your heel laterally with respect to the central line of the bike. To stop, put your foot on the ground.

4. THE DRIVETRAIN: PEDALS, CHAINRING, CHAIN AND CASSETTE

The bicycle's drivetrain transmits power to the back wheel through:

- Pedals
- Chainring and crank arms
- Chain
- Cassette

This section will explain how to inspect, adjust and lubricate the drivetrain. For bikes with rear internal hub gears, see the section on "Internal hub gear system".

Inspection

When the drivetrain is functioning properly, shifting is easy and silent.

Once a month, check that the cassette and chain are clean and well oiled. All links in the chains should pivot well without squeaking. Likewise, check that no links are deformed. Remove the rear wheel and spin the cassette. If you hear a strange noise or if the cassette stops as soon as you let go, it may need to be repaired or replaced; take the bike to your authorized dealer.

Once a month, if your bike has a chainguard, check that it is securely attached and aligned. Try to move the chainguard from one side to the other and tap it. Lift the rear wheel and turn the crank arms to hear if the chain or the chainring is rubbing against the chainguard. Realign the chainguard and adjust the screws so it is secure.

Inspect your pedals every three months. Check that the pedal reflectors are clean and correctly positioned. Make sure the pedals are properly secured to the crank arms.

To check that the pedal bearings are well-adjusted, move the pedals up and down and left to right. If you feel that anything is loose or too stiff, take the bicycle to your dealer so they can be adjusted, lubricated or replaced.

Every three months, inspect the crankset and check that the bolts are secured. The following torques should be applied: Single chainring binder bolt: 40-50Nm Crank arm binder bolt: 15Nm Chainring bolts: 8-10Nm

Chainring adjustment check

- Shift the chain to the largest chainring.

- Spin the chainrings until the crank arms are parallel to the seatpost.



- Put one hand on the crank arm and one on the seatpost; try to move the crank arm towards and against the seatpost. If it is loose, it needs to be checked by your dealer.

- If, when turning the chainrings, you notice that they are loose or you hear a strange noise in the bearings, they need to be checked by your dealer.

- Clean the chainrings and inspect them for any damage. If any tooth is bent or damaged, the chainring must be replaced by your authorized dealer.

Check the chain for wear every three months. Every complete link of a chain measures one inch (25.4mm). If twelve links measure more than 30.8cm, the chain must be replaced. With a properly maintained road bicycle, the chain generally lasts between 1600 and 2400 km. The service life for mountain bikes is slightly less. Special tools and know-how are required to change the chain. Therefore, you should take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Adjustment

Adjusting the drivetrain (cassette, chain, chainring and pedals) must be performed by an authorized dealer, since it requires specific tools and special skills.

Adjusting the chain on a single speed bicycle

Gradually loosen the nuts of the wheel hub.

In single-speed bikes, or bicycles with internal hub shifters, chain tension has to be adjusted so that, halfway between the wheel hub and bottom bracket, there is 1cm of slack in the chain. Tighten the nuts until the wheel is uniformly secured.



Lubrication and cleaning

Once a month, clean and lubricate the cassette and the chain. You should always keep a cloth behind the chain so that oil does not drip on the rest of the bicycle. Once the chain is lubricated, clean any excess off the chain.

Do not use gasoline to clean the cassette. It is highly flammable and leaves a thin film of grease after it evaporates. Clean the cassette with a degreasing fluid and brush.

Once a year, lubricate the pedal bearings, the clipless pedal mechanism and the part of the pedal that screws into the crank arms. Some bearings are sealed and do not require lubrication. Lubricating the bearings requires specific tools and special know-how, and should only be performed by an authorized dealer.

Note: The left and right pedals have a mark stamped on the corner indicating the side to which they pertain.

Greasing the thread of the pedals

- Remove the pedals; spin the right pedal counterclockwise and the left pedal clockwise.

- Apply a thin layer of lubricant.
- Install the pedals on the corresponding side
- Tighten the pedals until they are securely connected to the crank arms.



5. GEAR SHIFTER

TRADITIONAL DRIVETRAIN

Attachment of the rear derailleur to the frame: 6-8Nm

Attachment of the front derailleur to the frame: 5-6Nm

Attachment of the shifting levers to the handlebar: 6-8Nm

This gear shifting system changes the chainring and cassette by derailing the chain, removing it from one cog or chainring to another.

Inspection

The following terms will be used in this section:

Upshifting: shifting to a gear that is harder to pedal: a larger chainring or a smaller cog *Downshifting:* shifting to a gear that is easier to pedal: a smaller chainring or a larger cog Proper adjustment of the gear shifting system will make it silent. If there is temporary noise every time you shift, the shifter may need adjustment. If you cannot adjust it or the noise increases, take the bike to your authorized dealer.

Once a month, check that the cables are not twisted, rusted, have any broken wires or frayed



ends. You should also check the housing for loose cables, bent ends, cuts and signs of wear. If you think there is a problem with the cables, do not ride your bike. Change the cable or take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Once a month, check the function of the left shifting lever or front derailleur. Every time you change the chainring, the front derailleur must be in a position that it does not rub against the chain. Furthermore, the chain must not fall off the outside or inside chainring at any time.

Once a month, check the function of the right shifting lever or rear derailleur. Every time you shift, the cog should be situated so that the chain can run smoothly without jumping. Furthermore, the chain should not fall off the outside or inside cog at any time.

Adjustment

Shifter adjustment must be performed with the bike firmly secured to a work bench, or with someone holding the rear wheel in the air, so that the gear shifting system and drivetrain can work in a stationary position.

Positioning and adjusting the front derailleur

To correctly position the front derailleur:

- The cage plates must be perfectly parallel to the chainrings.

- Vertically, the position should be such that, with the front derailleur and the chain on the middle chainring, the gap between the bottom of the outer cage plate of the front derailleur and the top of the outer chainring teeth is between 1 to 3mm, as shown in the figure below.



For proper regulation of the front derailleur motion, it should have two screws regulating the inner and outer limits of the motion that can be positioned in different places depending on the front derailleur model. The adjustment should be performed as follows:

Place the chain, rear derailleur and front derailleur in the inside chainring-inside cog position.
Turn the inner limit screw (L), so that when pedaling, the chain moves as close as possible to the inner part of the inner cage of the front derailleur without rubbing at any point (see figure).



- Place the chain, rear derailleur and front derailleur in the outside chainring-outside cog position.

- Turn the outer limit screw (H), so that when pedaling, the chain moves as close as possible to the inner part of the outer cage of the front derailleur without rubbing at any point (see figure).



To confirm, try pedaling with all of the chainring-cog combinations possible.

If the chain falls off onto the crank arm in any of the combinations, turn the outer limit screw (H) one quarter turn clockwise.

If the chain falls off onto the bottom bracket in any of the combinations, turn the inner limit screw (L) one quarter turn clockwise.

If the front derailleur makes noise or the chain does not shift from one chainring to another smoothly in the intermediate positions, turn the barrel adjustment on the derailleur lever to achieve the optimum adjustment.

Adjusting the rear derailleur

Like the front derailleur, the rear derailleur has inner and outer screws to limit the motion of the rear derailleur that can be positioned in two different places, depending on the derailleur model. The process is very similar to that used to regulate the front derailleur and is explained below:



- Position the upper jockey wheel of the rear derailleur in line with the smallest cog using the outer limit screw (H).

- Position the jockey wheel of rear derailleur in line with the largest cog using the inner limit screw (L).



To confirm, try pedaling with all of the chainring-cog combinations possible.

- If the rear derailleur makes noise or the chain does not shift from one cog to another smoothly in the intermediate positions, turn the barrel adjustment (located on the shifting lever, or on the derailleur itself) to achieve the optimum adjustment.

- If the chain falls from the outside cog, tighten the outer limit screw (H) one quarter of a turn.
- If the chain cannot shift to the outside cog, from the outside cog, loosen the outer limit screw (H) one quarter of a turn.
- If the chain falls from the inside cog towards the spokes, tighten the inner limit screw (L) one quarter of a turn.
- If the chain cannot shift to the inside cog, loosen the inner limit screw (L) one quarter of a turn.

If the cassette cannot be aligned as indicated, take the bicycle to your authorized dealer.

Optimizing use of the rear derailleur

If your bike is equipped with a double or triple chainring kit, you will be able to ride anywhere easily, saving your strength and maintaining a uniform pedal stroke regardless of the terrain or your speed.

However, to avoid any mechanical issues, (chain skipping, noise when pedaling, etc.) follow these recommendations:

- Select the correct gear by shifting just before the start of an ascent or the obstacle you are

maneuvering.

When you are about to shift gears, keep pedaling normally without excessive force and use the shifting levers until the chain is correctly positioned on the desired cog and chainring.
Avoid shifting when straining, even if the synchronized systems allow for it in a tough situation.
Strictly avoid extreme combinations, such as the inner chainring with the two outermost cogs, or outer chainring with the two innermost cogs. These situations, as shown in the figure below, lead to a diagonal chain line that jeopardizes the performance of the drivetrain and durability of your components (premature wear).



Replacing the gear wire:

- Position the chain on the inner chainring and outer cog.
- Loosen the pinch bolt holding the wire and pull it through the shifting lever.
- If you cannot access the wire due to the type of shifter, talk to your dealer.
- Inspect the housing. Change it if it is worn or rusted.
- Grease the new wire and insert it through the lever and all guides and housing.
- Follow the instructions for adjusting the cassette.
- Cut the wire so that it does not overhang more than 5cm from the pinch bolt.
- Attach a metal end cap to the wire to prevent the end from fraying.

Lubrication

Every month, lubricate all of the pivot points of both the front and rear derailleurs, as well as on the jockey wheels.

Any wires that have been replaced must be lightly greased in those areas where it passes through housing or rubs against anything.



INTERNAL GEAR HUB DRIVETRAIN

Some bicycles are equipped with a type of shifter inside the rear hub.

Nexus 7/8 speed

The internal gear hub drivetrain is made up of the following specific components:

- Shifters
- Rear hub
- Gear cable.

The drivetrain is sealed; therefore, it stays lubricated with little maintenance. This section will explain how to inspect, adjust and lubricate the internal drivetrain.

Inspection

A well-adjusted drivetrain is silent. If it makes any noise when shifting, or while you are pedaling, the gear cable may need to be adjusted. If the noise gets louder after adjusting it, stop the bicycle and analyze the origin of the noise. If necessary, take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Once a month, make sure that the shifters are correctly adjusted.

In a Nexus 8-speed hub, set the shift lever to 4. Check to be sure that the yellow setting lines on the cassette joint bracket and pulley are aligned.

Once a month, check that the cables are not twisted, rusted, have any broken wires or frayed ends. If you have any issues with the gear cable, do not use the bicycle. Change the gear cable or take it to your authorized dealer.

Adjustment

Adjusting the rear drivetrain

- Set the shift lever to 4.
- Align the indicator on the pulley of the rear wheel hub with the cassette joint bracket.
- If they cannot be aligned, adjust the cassette cable tension to do so.
- Move the lever to $1 \mbox{ and then to } 4, \mbox{ and check the adjustment.}$

Changing the drivetrain cable

- Loosen the cable fixing bolt.
- Unscrew the bolt and hold the fixing nut at the end of the cable.
- Slide the fixing nut from the end of the cable forwards.
- Make a note of the length of the old cable for installing the new cable.

- Install the new cable.
- Attach the cable fixing nut.
- Attach the shifter casing.
- Attach a metal end cap to the wire to prevent the end from fraying.
- Follow the instructions to adjust the rear drivetrain.

Lubrication

The rear drivetrain must be lubricated once a year. This process requires specific tools and special know-how. It should only be performed by an authorized dealer.

The cable must be lubricated whenever it is replaced.

6. FORK AND HEADSET

The headset is the set of bearings that allows the fork, stem and handlebar of the bicycle to rotate. This section will explain how to inspect, lubricate and adjust the fork and headset.

If your bike is equipped with a suspension fork, read the chapter on suspension forks. If your bicycle has an aluminum or carbon fiber fork, read the chapter on caring for your fork and frame.

Inspection

Once a month, inspect your bike's headset and check that it is not too loose or tight. If it is, do not use the bicycle. Take it to your authorized dealer.

Checking headset play

- Stand over the horizontal tube of the bike with both feet on the ground.
- Squeeze the front brake while moving the bicycle forward and back.

If your bicycle does not have a front brake, turn the front wheel so that it is perpendicular the force applied.

- Watch, listen and feel if the headset is loose.

Checking the tightness of the headset adjustment

- Stand over the horizontal tube of the bike with both feet on the ground.
- With the front wheel on the ground, turn the fork and the handlebar left to right and vice versa.
- Watch, listen and feel if the headset is tight, or if it makes noise or gets stuck at certain points.

WARNING An improper adjustment of the headset could cause you to lose control and fall. Make sure the headset is correctly adjusted prior to use.



Adjustment

Adjusting the headset requires special tools and specific skills. Therefore, it should only be performed by your authorized dealer.

Lubrication

The headset must be lubricated once a year. This requires special tools and specific skills. Therefore, it should only be performed by your authorized dealer.

BRAKING SYSTEM

The braking system allows you to reduce your speed, a critical function of your bicycle. This section will explain how to inspect, adjust and lubricate your bicycle's brakes. You should also read the specific information corresponding to each type of brake used.

Suggestions for all braking systems-all systems

The different types of brakes have different braking capacities. If you are not satisfied or comfortable with your braking system, talk to your authorized dealer.

With any braking system, a failure in the adjustment, maintenance or use of the brakes could cause you to lose control of the bicycle and suffer the consequences that could entail. If you are unsure about the adjustment of your brakes, or if you suspect there is a problem, do not use the bicycle. Take it to your authorized dealer.

It is difficult to adjust the braking system if you do not have the necessary knowledge, experience or materials. We highly recommend that you have your authorized dealer adjust your brakes.

Not all brakes are compatible with all levers. Only use levers that are compatible with your brakes, such as those that originally came with your bike.

WARNING Never use the bicycle if the braking system is not working correctly, or if you suspect there could be some problem, either with the brakes, cables or hydraulic system. Poor brake function could cause you to lose control and fall. If your bicycle is not functioning properly, readjust it and take it to your authorized dealer.

RIM BRAKING SYSTEMS

Introduction

This system is made up of different brake families, such as Cantilever, V-Brake and Caliper. In these systems, the levers are connected to the brake through cables or hydraulic systems. When squeezing the levers, the brake shoes act on the rim and slow the wheels, which reduces the speed of the bicycle.

These systems are made up of the following components:

- Rim

- Braking levers / Fluid reservoir
- Brake cable and housing / Hydraulic hose
- Brake shoes

Brake fluid from the hydraulic system is highly corrosive. Avoid contact with the skin or bicycle, as it could corrode the paint.

Never use rims designed for disc brakes with these systems. The rims must have a flat surface on which the brake shoes can act.

Inspection

Before using your bike, squeeze the brake levers firmly. The lever should never come in contact with the handlebar. If the lever touches the handlebar, the reach should be regulated as explained below. If you have a hydraulic systemic, it must be purged. This action must be performed by your authorized dealer, since it requires specific materials and know-how.

Likewise, if you have a hydraulic system, check that there are no crimps or leaks in the hose. Replace any hydraulic part that does not pass inspection. This replacement requires specific tools and know-how. Therefore it should be done by an authorized dealer.

When the brakes are not being applied, the shoes should be 1-2mm from the rim. The brake shoes must be aligned with the rim surface. If your brakes are too loose, tight or misaligned with the rim, adjust them prior to using the bicycle.



The angular alignment of the brake shoe must be considered to prevent the brakes from squeaking. Used brake shoes and some new V-Brake types may not require this alignment.

Once a month, check the status of the brake shoes. The brake shoes have small channels on the friction surface. If any of these channels is less than 2mm deep, or less than 1mm in V-Brakes,



the brake shoes must be replaced. If the original brake shoes did not have channels, replace them when the end of the rubber pad is only 3mm from the metal support.

Regulating the brake shoe vertically should be such that the edge of the rim is 1mm above the end of the shoe. The shoe must come in contact with the rim exactly perpendicular to the braking surface, as shown in the figure below.



The shoe must be slightly inclined in the direction of the wheel's rotation. Otherwise, braking will be deficient and could cause bothersome noises when the brakes are applied.



Once a month, check the brake cables for twisting, rust, broken threads and frayed ends, and check that the housing is not crimped, cut or worn. Replace any component that does not pass inspection.

In Cantilever brakes, there should be a distance of 20mm between the link unit and the end of the brake cable housing support.



In V-Brakes, if the perpendicular distance to the braking surface can be regulated, make sure that Distance A, as shown in the diagram below, is greater than or equal to 39mm.



Every 3 months, tighten the bolts in the brake levers and shoes. Brake lever mounting bolt: 6-8Nm Every 3 months, tighten the bolts in the Cantilever, V-Brake and Caliper brakes. Brake shoe holder: 8-10Nm Brake mounting bolt: 8-10Nm Cable fixing bolt: 6-8Nm

Adjustment

Adjusting brake lever reach

It is possible to regulate the reach of some brake levers. Find the reach adjustment screw for the lever. To increase the reach, turn the screw clockwise. To reduce the reach, turn the screw counterclockwise.

On some occasions it is necessary to readjust the distance between the shoes and the rim after adjusting lever reach.



Adjusting the distance between the shoes and the rim

To increase the distance to the rim, turn the reach adjustment screw clockwise. Turn it counterclockwise to reduce the distance.

If you cannot adjust the shoes in this manner, loosen the pinch bolt and tighten the cable again,



as explained in the section for installing a brake cable, but without removing it.

Centering V-Brake, Cantilever and Caliper brakes.

Turn the central screw in short intervals, checking the centering often.

Adjusting the alignment of the brake shoes

- Loosen the brake shoe holder bolt.
- Follow the instructions for inspecting the alignment and tightening the shoes.
- After the brakes are adjusted, fully depress the levers 10 times. Make sure the cables do not come loose, the shoes remain in the correct position with respect to the rim and that the tires do not come in contact with the shoes.



Installing a brake cable

The installation of the cable in Cantilever brakes requires specific tools and know-how. Therefore it should be done by an authorized dealer.

- Determine the reach of the old cable, loosen the brake cable anchor bolt and disassemble the old cable.

- Grease the new cable and install it, positioning it with the same reach as the old cable.
- Check that the end of the cable is well-secured and properly adjust the housing.
- If necessary, follow the instructions for adjusting brake shoe alignment.
- Turn the bolt clockwise so the shoe is not above or outside the rim.
- Hold the shoes against the rim and tighten the bolt.
- Cut the end of the cable so that only 5mm of cable overhangs from the bolt.
- Attach an end cap to the end of the cable.
- Follow the inspection and adjustment instructions.

Opening the brake to remove the wheels:

Note: you must follow the inspection instructions in the wheels section to complete this installation.

- For most brakes, lift the brake release lever to the Open position. To close it, turn the lever to the Closed position.

- For Cantilever and Caliper brakes: release the straddle cable. With one hand, squeeze the brake shoes against rim, and with the other, pull the cable end cap away from the retention holder. Once the shoes are released, the brake will open. To close the brake, follow these instructions in reverse.

- For V-Brakes: disconnect the noodle from the noodle holder. With one hand, squeeze the brake shoes against rim, and with the other, pull the noodle backwards from the holder and lift the noodle. Once disconnected, the brake will open when you release the shoes. To close the brake, follow these instructions in reverse.

Lubrication

- Every 3 months, lubricate the brake lever pivots with synthetic lubricant as you would for the chain.

- When you are going install a brake cable, you should grease it with a thin layer of synthetic lubricant.

HYDRAULIC DISC BRAKES:

Introduction

Instead of a shoe exerting pressure on the rim of wheel, a pad acts on a disc located in the front or rear hub. The disc fits onto the hub with bolts on the left side. The braking system is made up of:

- Braking levers / Fluid reservoir
- Hydraulic hose
- Disc brake pad

Brake fluid from disc brakes is highly corrosive. Avoid contact with the skin or bicycle, as it could corrode the paint.

Disc brakes can become very hot after use. Be very careful when inspecting them. Like with other parts of your bike, avoid inserting your fingers in the disc.

WARNING Disc brakes can even burn your skin. Moreover, the corners can be sharp and cut you. Avoid touching the disc and brakes when they are hot or rotating.

You should not depress the brake levers when the disc is not inside the caliper. If the lever is depressed when the disc has been removed, the distance between the pads is almost null due to the self-adjuster. Therefore, you will not be able to reassemble the disc. If this were to happen, consult the disc brake manual or go to your authorized dealer.



Inspection

Before using your bike, squeeze the brake levers firmly. The lever should never come in contact with the handlebar. If the lever touches the handlebar, the system should be purged. This action must be performed by your authorized dealer, since it requires specific materials and know-how.

Check that there is no oil, grease or other type of dirt on the disc. The disc is an essential part of the braking system; therefore, it must be kept clean. Remove the brake pads from the calipers when you are going to deep-clean. Do not use cleansers, degreasers or solvents to clean the disc. Only use isopropyl alcohol.

Once a month, make sure that the disc brakes are not worn. If the brake pads have a thickness less than 1mm, they should be changed. You must also check that the brake pads are correctly positioned at a distance between 0.25 and 0.75mm from the disc when the brakes are not applied. Turn the wheel. When the levers are not depressed, the brake pads should touch the discs as little as possible.

The torque for disc brake bolts is: Caliper mount bolts: 11.5-12.5Nm Caliper bridge bolt: 11.5-12.5Nm Disc screws: 5-6Nm Handlebar Master Cylinder Clamp Screw: 3-4Nm

Check there are no crimps or leaks in the hose. Replace any hydraulic part that does not pass inspection. This replacement requires specific tools and know-how. Therefore it should be done by an authorized dealer.

Adjustment

Adjusting brake lever reach

Locate the reach adjustment screw between the lever and the handlebar, near the lever pivot.
To increase the reach, turn the screw clockwise. To reduce the reach, turn the screw counterclockwise.

Aligning the brake with the disc

- Loosen the caliper mount bolt.

- Depress the lever as much as possible and gradually tighten the bolts as specified in the inspection section.

Removing brake pads

- Remove the wheel.

- With your fingers or needle-nose pliers, pull the tab of the brake pad.

Removing the wheel

Removing the wheel with disc brakes does not require you to take apart the braking system. Carefully slide the disc out of the brake.

When you are going to replace the wheel, carefully guide the disc between the brake pads. If you press the edge of the disc against the pads, they can crack or be damaged and need to be replaced.

Lubrication

Lubricate the pivots every three months with synthetic lubricant, as you would with the chain. The brake pads do not need to be lubricated.

MECHANICAL DISC BRAKES

Introduction

Instead of a shoe exerting pressure on the rim of wheel, a pad acts on a disc located in the front or rear hub. The disc fits onto the hub with bolts on the left side. The brake is activated using a cable that extends out of the lever. The braking system is made up of:

- Brake lever
- Brake cables and housing
- Disc brake pads

Disc brakes can become very hot after use. Be very careful when inspecting them. Like with other parts of your bike, avoid inserting your fingers in the disc.

WARNING Disc brakes can become very hot and even burn your skin. Moreover, the corners can be sharp and cut you. Avoid touching the disc and brakes when they are hot or rotating.

Inspection

Before every use, squeeze the brake levers firmly 10 times. The lever should never come in contact with the handlebar.

Check that there is no oil, grease or other type of dirt on the disc. The disc is an essential part of the braking system; therefore, it must be kept clean. Remove the brake pads from the calipers when you are going to deep-clean. Do not use cleansers, degreasers or solvents to clean



the disc. Only use isopropyl alcohol.

Once a month, make sure that the disc brakes are not worn. If the brake pads have a thickness less than 1mm, they should be changed. You must also check that the brake pads are correctly positioned at a distance between 0.25 and 0.75mm from the disc when the brakes are not applied. Turn the wheel. When the levers are not depressed, the brake pads should touch the discs as little as possible.

The torque for disc brake bolts is: Caliper mount bolt: 11.5-12.5Nm Caliper bridge bolt: 11.5-12.5Nm Disc screws: 5-6Nm Pinch bolt: 6-8Nm

Once a month, check the brake cables of your bike for twisting, rust, broken threads and frayed ends and check that the housing is not crimped, cut or worn. Replace any component that does not pass inspection.

Adjustment

Adjusting the reach of the brake levers

Locate the reach adjustment screw between the lever and the handlebar, near the lever pivot.
To increase the reach, turn the screw clockwise. To reduce the reach, turn the screw counterclockwise.

Adjusting the gap between the pad and the disc

- Turn the pad adjuster bolt. To increase the pad gap, turn the adjuster clockwise. To decrease the pad gap, turn the adjuster counterclockwise.

Aligning the brake with the disc

- Loosen the caliper mount bolt.

- Depress the lever as much as possible and gradually tighten the bolts as specified in the inspection section.

Removing brake pads

- Remove the wheel

- With your fingers or needle-nose pliers, pull the tab of the brake pad.

Removing the wheel

- Removing the wheel with disc brakes does not require you to take apart the braking system. Carefully slide the disc out of the brake.

- When you are going to replace the wheel, carefully guide the disc between the brake pads. If you press the edge of the disc against the pads, they can crack or be damaged and need to be replaced.

Lubrication

- Lubricate the pivots every three months with synthetic lubricant, as you would with the chain. - The brake pads do not need to be lubricated.

Installing the cable

Follow the installation instructions explained for Cantilever, V-Brake and Caliper brakes.

DRUM BRAKES

Introduction

The braking mechanism is found within the rear hub, but unlike coaster brakes, it is applied by hand. The lever is connected to the brake through a cable, and the system has the following components:

- Brake lever
- Brake cables and housing
- Rear hub

Inspection

You should check that the bolts of the braking system are well tightened and that the brake cables have no rust, broken threads or frayed ends. You must also check that the housing is not crimped, cut or worn. Replace any pieces that do not pass your inspection.

Adjustment

Reducing lever reach

- Loosen the adjustment barrel and turn the screw. To increase the reach, turn it clockwise. Turn it counterclockwise to reduce the distance.

- After adjusting the reach, tighten the barrel.

ORBEA

Removing the rear wheel

First, disconnect the rear derailleur and brake cables. To disconnect the brake cable, be careful not to touch the rear hub since it may be hot even 30 minutes after use.

To disconnect the gear cable, shift to the outside cog. Pull the cable housing and turn the mounting nut until the washers align with the groove. Once this is completed, you can remove the cable.

To uninstall the hub from the frame, turn the hub bolts gradually in small movements so that the adjustment of the bearing axis is not affected.

To install the rear wheel, follow the instructions above, inversely, including the slow tightening of the bolts. Once this is completed, check the tension of the derailleur cable and inspect the wheel.

Lubrication

You must lubricate the pivots of the brake lever every three months. Every time a new brake cable is installed, it must be lubricated.

COASTER BRAKES

Introduction

Instead of being applied with your hands, coaster brakes are applied using your feet and pedaling backwards. The chain transmits the movement of the pedals to the rear wheel hub where the braking mechanism is located. This braking system consists of:

- Rear hub
- Chain and chainring-crank arm set

Inspection

Once a month, you must make sure the sprocket bolt is tight and the driver system is well fit to the sprocket.

Once a month, or whenever you replace a wheel, make sure to check the tension of the wheel. Without proper tension, the chain can fall off, causing the brake to malfunction. Chain adjustment is explained in previous chapters.

Removing the rear wheel

- To remove the brake arm, loosen and remove the brake arm bolt.
- To uninstall the hub, loosen the hub bolts gradually in small increments so that the adjustment

- of the bearing axis is not affected.
- Slightly loosen the nut on one side of the hub by turning it one quarter of a turn.
- Slightly loosen the nut on the other side of the hub by turning it one quarter of a turn.
- Continue loosening the nuts carefully until you are able to remove them from the hub.

Replacing the rear wheel

- Place the chain on the hub, not on the cog, and slide the hub towards the teeth.
- Push the wheel to the proper position in the rear fork, lift the chain to position it on the cog, pulling on the wheel to obtain good tension.

- While you are holding the wheel in the frame and maintaining the chain tension, follow the instructions to remove the wheel backwards, including the gradual adjustment of the bolts. If necessary, you will have to re-tense the chain.

- Re-install the brake arm, and tighten the brake arm bolt.
- Follow the inspection steps in the wheels section of this chapter to complete installation.
- Spin the wheel to see if it spins freely and is centered.
- Verify that the brake is functioning properly.

Lubrication

Coaster brakes do not need additional lubrication. Follow the recommendations in the Wheels section for the lubrication of the hub bearings.

7. WHEELS

Introduction

Bicycle wheels allow the bike to travel smoothly; therefore, their integrity is essential. The relationship between the wheels and the braking system is extremely important. This section will explain how to inspect, adjust and lubricate the wheels of your bike.

Inspection

The best type of maintenance you can perform on a wheel is preventive. Be aware of any problems that could arise and correct them before they occur.

Before each use, check that the quick-release is in the Closed position or that the nut is well tightened. For more information about tightening the wheel, read the corresponding section, or ask your authorized dealer. Check that the wheels are trued and centered by spinning them. If the rim spin is not uniform, talk to your authorized dealer. Make sure the wheels are inflated and the tire pressure is correct. Inflate the tires using a hand pump. Never inflate your tires at a gas station. Check the tires for wear or any other type of damage. If a tire has any cuts or openings that allow you to see the inner tube, change it before riding. Check that the wheels are clean. A dirty or greasy wheel could impede proper brake function. Clean the rims with a clean cloth or

ORBEA

wash them with soap and water. Rinse and allow to air dry.

Every week, make sure there are no loose, damaged or broken spokes. If a wheel is not in good condition, the efficacy of the brakes and the rigidity of the set will be severely reduced.

WARNING An improperly adjusted hub could cause you to lose control and fall. Carefully inspect the hub system before each ride, and do not use the bike until any problem that may arise during the inspection has been resolved.

Once a month, check that the front and rear hubs are well adjusted. Lift the front wheel and try to move the rim from left to right. Watch and feel for any play in the rim. Spin the wheel and listen for any strange sounds in the movement. If the hub appears to be loose or makes strange noises, the hub will need to be adjusted. Repeat this process with the rear wheel.

Every month, check the wear of your rims. In some adult bicycles, there are indicators for wear on the braking surface. If the rim is so worn that you cannot see the wear indicators, the rim change should be performed by your authorized dealer.

Before installing the rim, make sure the rim tape is installed, so that the spoke nipples or ends do not puncture the inner tube.

WARNING Make sure the rim tape covers all spoke ends and nipples. If any are left uncovered and puncture the inner tube, the wheel will lose pressure suddenly, making you lose control and fall.

Adjustment

Adjusting the front hub

This procedure requires specific materials and know-how. Therefore, it should only be performed by an authorized dealer.

Adjusting the quick-release mechanism

To properly and safely adjust the quick-release mechanism, carefully read and follow the instructions below.



- Turn the lever of the quick-release to the Open position, and insert the wheel in the blades of the bike and make sure the axle is securely positioned.

- Now move the lever to 45 and tighten the quick-release bolt clockwise with your hand until you cannot turn it anymore.

- Move the lever to the tightening position. Once closed, it should be in the Closed position as shown in the upper left figure.

Do not tighten the quick-release as if it were a bolt; the attachment will not be tight enough to keep the wheel in position.



WARNING A quick-release that is not properly adjusted could cause the wheel to loosen or fall out unexpectedly, and cause you to lose control or possibly fall. Be sure that the quick-release is correctly adjusted and closed before using the bicycle.

If the lever can be easily moved to the Open position (less than 50 Newton), that means that the fastening force is insufficient. In this case, re-tighten the quick-release bolt clockwise and turn the lever to the Closed position. If the force needed to turn the lever is excessive (more than 200 Newton) repeat the operation above but loosening the bolt counterclockwise. Repeat these operations as many times as needed until you find the optimum fastening force.
The quick-release should be oriented in such a way that it does not interfere with other bike accessories.

- If the quick-release mechanism fails, take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Checking the quick-release mechanism adjustment

- Lift your bike and strike the upper part of the wheel. The wheel should not drop out, loosen or move from side to side.

- Make sure the quick-release lever cannot rotate in parallel with the tire.
- If you need more than 200 N force to close the quick-release, it is too tight and you must readjust it.
- If you need less than 53 N to close the quick-release, it is too weak and you must readjust it.

Adjusting with bolts

- Install the wheel into the blades (of the frame or fork) and make sure the axle is securely inside the slots.



castellano | english | français | italiano | deutsch

- Insert the clamp nut.

- Gradually turn the nuts on either side of the axle in opposite directions. The following torques should be applied: Front wheel: 20-28 Nm

Rear wheel: 27-34 Nm

Check that the nuts are properly adjusted as specified in the section below. If the nuts are not correctly positioned, repeat the adjustment procedure or take your bike to your authorized dealer.

Checking the clamp nuts are properly adjusted

Lift your bike and strike the upper part of the wheel. The wheel should not drop out, loosen or move from side to side.

Adjusting tire pressure

If you cannot maintain proper tire pressure, it is most likely punctured or has a leak. Repairing a puncture is explained in the tire inspection section. If you do not have the proper tools to complete the repair, take your bicycle to your authorized dealer.

REMOVING AND INSTALLING WHEELS WITH GEAR SHIFTING MECHANISMS

Some parts of this chapter refer to parts that have already been explained, such as wheels and braking systems.

Note: to remove the rear wheel with coaster braking systems, follow the instructions specified in the brake section.

Removing the wheel

- Position the chain on the outermost cog.
- Open the brakes as indicated in the braking section
- Open the quick-release of the wheel or loosen the hub nut.
- Slide the wheel out of the fork ends.

Installing a wheel

- For the rear wheel, rotate the chain to position it on the outermost cog.
- Insert the wheel in the frame or fork, making sure that the hub is well inserted in the fork ends.
- Readjust the quick-release or tighten the hub nut as explained in the wheels section.
- Check the brakes and make sure they are well-adjusted.
- Spin the wheel and check that it is trued and spins freely without rubbing against anything.

Lubrication

- Grease the hubs once a year. This process requires specific tools and special know-how. It should only be performed by an authorized dealer.

- Lubricate the quick-release lever with a synthetic lubricant ever year.

SCHRADER AND PRESTA VALVES

There are two types of valves: Schrader and Presta. Follow the criteria below when inflating your tires.

Schrader valve: remove the valve cap, attach a pump with the proper head fitting for this type of valve and inflate the wheel. Once inflated, replace the cap so that the valve does not become dirty.

Presta valve: Remove the cap, if any. Unscrew the valve stem lock nut and push down on the valve stem to free it up. A small amount of air will be released. Inflate the wheel using a pump with the proper head fitting. After inflating, tighten the valve stem lock nut.

TUBELESS WHEELS

Some bicycles are equipped with a tubeless tire system. This is made up of the tire, a rim and a specific valve for use without an inner tube.

A normal tire can fit onto the rim without using an inner tube without a problem. However, you will have to install a tube since the tire is not sufficiently sealed to maintain the pressure. This section explains the requirements of this system and includes instructions for assembly.

WARNING A normal tire is not able to maintain air pressure without an inner tube. If an inner tube is not used, you could lose control and fall. Always use an inner tube with standard tires.

Repairing punctures in tubeless tires.

A well-installed tubeless tire can lose up to 0.25atm per day. If the loss is greater than that, look for a leak. Dirt, sand, mud or possible grooves could weaken the seal between the rim and the tire and cause leaks. Check that the valve is firmly in position. Check for punctures and the sealing surface.

- Tire with rim
- Valve with rim

If the tire has a puncture hole smaller than 3mm, it can be repaired from inside the tire with an appropriate patch. If the opening of the tire is greater than 3mm, the entire tire must be



replaced.

A tubeless tire must be completely sealed to the rim

Before inflating a tubeless tire, you must make sure that the connection between the rim and tire is correct. This connection must be even more secure than that of the conventional tire. If you are using tire levers, be careful not to damage the rim or the tire itself. If any of the surfaces is scratched, installing the tire could cause leaking problems.

If the tires are well fit to the rim, the interior pressure of the tire is enough to maintain the seal. You do not need a compressor to fill the tires. A good pump will suffice.

Installing the valve

- Align the holes of the rim and the rim tape for the valve.
- Align the valve head with the holes above and push the valve through the rim tape and rim.
- Screw the tubeless valve stem lock nut with your hand. There should be no space between the rim and the valve.
- Check that the rim tape is properly in place.

Installing tubeless tires

- We recommend dampening the rim and tire with soap and water to facilitate installation.
- Starting with the area opposite the valve, insert one side of the tire inside the rim.
- Repeat this action with the other side of the tire.

Inflating tubeless tires

- Inflate the tires until the pressure reaches 4atm.
- Most tires have lines or markings just above the chafer.
- When the tire is properly positioned, these markings should be uniform around the rim.
- Once the tire is properly fit onto the rim, finish inflating it.

WARNING If tubeless tire pressure is low, you could lose control and fall. Do not use tires with under 2atm of pressure.

Removing tubeless tires

The area of the rim where the tire rests is very thin. Therefore, you will need to rotate the tire to remove it from the rim.

Allow all of the air to be released from the tire.

Spin the tire while removing one of the beads of the tire from the rim. Once it has come out completely, remove the other bead, starting at the valve.

Installing an inner tube and tire

A standard tire can be used with an inner tube. Make sure the rim tape is covering all spoke ends and nipples. Install the inner tube and tire as you normally would.

Converting to a tubeless tire

- Remove the tire and inner tube.
- Make sure the rim tape is covering all spoke openings.
- Follow the instructions for installing a valve.
- Follow the instructions for installing a tubeless tire and inflate it.

Removing the rim tape

- If the rim tape is going to be used again, be careful not to damage it.
- Follow the instructions on how to uninstall a tubeless tire and the valve stem.
- Insert a screwdriver through the valve opening of the rim tape, between the rim tape and the rim.
- Lift the rim tape with the screwdriver and insert a tire lever under the rim tape.
- Using the tire lever, lift and turn the rim tape upwards and outwards from the rim.

Installing rim tape

- There are two types of rim tape, one for symmetrical rims and one for asymmetrical rims. Confirm that you are installing the correct type of rim tape for your rim. If your rim is asymmetrical, make sure it is well aligned.

- Check that the rim tape is in good condition, without scratches, holes or deformities.
- Align the opening of the rim tape with the hole in the rim for the valve.
- Insert the valve stem through the rim tape opening.
- Using your fingers, lift and stretch the rim tape so it is situated in the rim cavity.
- Complete the tire installation procedure.

INSTALLING THE TIRE

These instructions apply to standard wheel systems where the air inside the tire is retained by an inner tube. Follow these instructions for repairing and replacing the inner tube or tire.

Removing the wheel

- Follow the instructions for opening the brake in the braking system section.
- Follow the instructions on how to remove the wheel in the wheels chapter.



Removing the tire from the wheel

Never use sharp object or a screwdriver to remove the tire. Use your hands or tire levers.

- Completely deflate the inner tube.
- Squeeze the sides of the tire around the entire rim.
- Starting with the area opposite the valve, start removing the tire from the rim.
- Continue removing the tire around the rim until it is completely free.
- Remove the tire and the inner tube.

Installing the tire

If you are repairing a puncture, repair the punctured area with a patch or replace the inner tube. Follow the inspection procedure in the wheels section to check the rim and inner part of the wheel.

If you are replacing an inner tube or tire, make sure the new tire is the same size as the previous one, or ask your authorized dealer about compatible options. You will be able to find the size on the side of the tire.

- Slightly inflate the inner tube.
- Position the inner tube in the tire.
- Insert the valve through the opening in the rim.
- Starting at the valve, insert the tire into the rim.
- Push the tire until it is completely installed with the inner tube inside the tire, and the tire inside the rim. Be careful not to pinch the inner tube in the tire or rim.
- Inflate the tire halfway and check that the tire is properly fit into the rim.
- Inflate the tire to the pressure indicated on the side.

Installing the wheel

Follow the instructions on how to install the wheel in the wheels chapter. Follow the instructions for closing the brake in the braking system section.

8. REFLECTORS

Introduction

The reflectors of your bicycle reflect light shone on them. In conditions of low visibility, if a vehicle comes close to you with the lights on, the reflectors will help you be seen. Reflectors are an important part of the safety system. Therefore, you must not remove them.

Inspection

Every three months, make sure that all nuts and bolts holding the front, rear and pedal reflectors are correctly positioned and attached. Check that the front and rear reflectors are properly positioned and perpendicular to the ground. You must also check that all reflective surfaces are clean and in good condition. The rear reflector must be at least 75 mm below the saddle.

9. SUSPENSION SYSTEMS Suspension systems: Forks

Suspension forks allow the front wheel to move in way that absorbs the shock from irregularities in your path and reduce the vibrations you feel.

Suspension forks must be regularly lubricated so that they can work smoothly and have a long service life. The section below is complementary to the information provided by the fork supplier. If you have not received said information, you can download it from the supplier's website or contact us.

Inspection

Before every use, make sure the suspension fork is working correctly. Never use the bicycle if there is not enough space between the fork and the wheel.

Adjustment

The suspension fork preload setting can be modified, as can the damper and coil spring speed. Changing the characteristics of the suspension fork will have an impact on the headset and braking system of your bicycle. After making any changes, ride in an area that is flat and free of traffic, so that you can check and familiarize yourself with your bike's new performance.

Lubrication

Follow the lubrication and maintenance instructions in the suspension fork manual.

WARNING An improper adjustment of the suspension fork could cause you to lose control and fall. Make sure the suspension fork bolts are properly adjusted, and that the distance between the tire and fork is adequate.

Suspension systems: rear suspension

Rear suspension allows for a vertical movement of the rear wheel to absorb the shock from irregularities in your path and reduce the vibrations you feel.

The section below is complementary to the information provided by the suspension supplier. If you have not received said information, you can download it from the supplier's website or contact us.

For optimum performance of your rear suspension system, the maintenance and care for each one its parts is very important:

- Frame
- Swing arm
- Bearings
- Mounting components
- Rear shock

ORBEA

For your system to work correctly, it is very important that the different components are securely tightened and the rear shock is adjusted according to your weight, way of riding and type of terrain on which you normally ride.

Keep the suspension components clean. Dirt, mud and other pollutants can cause wear or premature fatigue of the suspension. To clean the suspension system, use a cloth and soft-bristle brush with soap and water. Never use solvents or chemicals that could strip the lubrication from the bearings or rear shock.

Changing the characteristics of the suspension system will have an impact on the headset and braking system of your bicycle. After making any changes, ride in an area that is flat and free of traffic, so that you can check and familiarize yourself with your bike's new performance.

Lubrication

You should not lubricate the shock or pivot of the suspension system on your bike, since this could damage the cartridge or bearings. For the long life of your suspension system, only clean it with soap and water, or with water alone.

10. CARING FOR YOUR FRAME AND FORK

Orbea frames are constructed with a range of premium materials. For safety and durability purposes, take care of your bicycle and keep the following specifications in mind.

Inspection

Before each use, carefully inspect the entire frameset (frame and fork) for any signs of fatigue, such as scratches, cracks, dents, deformities or discoloring. If any of the components shows signs of fatigue or is damaged, replace it before using the bicycle.

Information about the frame

In aluminum and steel frames, the seatpost must be greased prior to inserting it in the frame. A special carbon compound should be used for this in the carbon frame. A thin layer of grease will insulate it and prevent corrosion.

The resistances for the various pressure adjusters or threads are extremely important. If you tighten a piece excessively, of if it is misaligned, the piece or the frame may break. In you apply too much torque, you could break the piece or damage the thread. You should always begin screwing with your hand and not a wrench. The torque for the lower mount is 50-70Nm. The torque for the cassette is 8-10Nm.

When cleaning the parts of the frame, do not use solvents or strong chemicals. Any dirt should be cleaned with a cloth and soap and water. The use of industrial solvents could damage the frame's paint.

Stripping the paint from the frame requires special techniques and much care. Some abrasives can strip part of the frame material, and thus weaken it. It is advisable that you contact your dealer.

The frame should not be exposed to extreme temperatures (65°C), since they could damage the binding adhesive of the various components.

If the frame is modified in any way, the warranty is voided and the use of the frame could be hazardous.

Changing the fork could affect your bicycle's turning capacity or create excessive tensions. Suspension forks can generate effects of fatigue on your bicycle. You must not add suspension to a road bike or modify the length of a fork. If you are going to replace the fork of your bicycle, talk to your dealer to make sure that the fork is compatible with the frame.

WARNING Never modify the frame assembly in any way. Sanding, drilling, filling holes, uninstalling excess devices or any other operation on the bicycle, in addition to improper modifications of the frame, fork or any other component could cause you to lose control of the bicycle and fall.

Carbon frames

It is essential that carbon frames have a chainstay guard in place in the event the chain falls inward. Check that the frame chain protectors are always in good condition. If they are damaged, go to your dealer so they can be replaced immediately.

Do not leave these frames exposed to the sun since they degenerate faster than aluminum or steel frames.

Frame repair

Most damage to the frame has to be repaired at the Orbea plant. The frame can be returned through an authorized dealer.

11. ACCESSORIES

Introduction

To improve the features of your bike, it can be equipped with different types of accessories, such as dynamos, lighting systems to improve visibility, luggage carriers or bells. All accessories must be properly maintained for optimum performance.

Inspection

Once a month, inspect the various accessory nuts and bolts and their respective mounting systems. The torque for the fender bolts is 3.5-4.5Nm and the connection between the fender and frame should be 6-7Nm.



Lighting systems

The lighting system has been designed to increase security in low visibility conditions, such as night-time or fog. These lighting systems can be powered by dynamos or batteries. If a dynamo is used, it must be properly installed and adjusted, so that it is in the "On" position thanks to the spinning motion of the wheel to provide the necessary power to the lighting system (at a minimum speed of 6km/h).

WARNING When the bike is stopped, the dynamo cannot generate energy for the light bulbs, thus reducing visibility and causing you to not be seen by other vehicles. In this case, use batteries or avoid stopping in poorly lit areas.

Once the dynamo is connected, make sure the light shines and is properly aimed so that you can have optimum light and luminosity. The lighting system must be kept clean.

Remember that your field of view is smaller at night; therefore, you should reduce your speed and adapt to the conditions. You are less visible at night than during the day, even if your lights are on. Ride defensively.

In addition, we recommend you change the light bulbs in your system every six months because there is no indicator to warn you if they are broken. You will run the risk of being left without functioning lights when you most need them.

Avoid pulling or cutting cables of the lighting system; if they are damaged, the lights will stop working.

Installation

If your bicycle does not have a set of lights and you would like to add them, we recommend you talk to your authorized dealer.

If you want to change the light bulbs in your lighting system, check the voltage and power of the original bulbs. If you have any questions, talk to your authorized dealer.

Installing a light bulb

- Find the screw for the cover behind the rear or front light.
- Unscrew it using a Phillips screwdriver.

- Take apart the light bulb so that you can unscrew the bulb itself. Be careful not to break the light bulb when removing it.

- Install the new light bulb in its place and follow the instructions in reverse.

MAINTENANCE Schedule

BEFORE EVERY USE	WEEKLY	MONTHLY	EVERY 3 MONTHS	ANNUALLY
Check that the wheels are trued	Check that the screws in the various suspension systems are tight	Check the rims	Inspect and lubricate brake levers	Lubricate suspension forks
Check tire pressure	Lubricate the suspension fork	Check the adjustment of the bea- rings	Inspect the cassette and chainrings	Lubricate quick-releases
Check your brakes	Check the spokes	Inspect the adjustment of all acces- sories	Inspect the crank arms and pedals	Lubricate the seatpost
Check that both wheels are secure	Clean the bicycle	Check the chain tension		Lubricate the valve stem
Check the handlebar and stem	Check the lighting system and reflectors	Check the braking system		Lubricate the pedal threads and bearings
Check the suspension setting	Check the tire for cuts and rips	Check the internal shifter		Lubricate the wheel bearings
Check the lighting system		Inspect and lubricate the cassette and derailleur		Lubricate the fork crown bearings
Check the saddle		Inspect derailleur function		
		Check gear and brake cables		
		Check the chainguard and fender		
		Check the saddle and seatpost		
		Check the handlebar and stem		

We recommend taking your bike to your dealer for annual revision. If you have any questions about how to perform any of these checks, see the manual or talk to your dealer. This maintenance schedule is based on normal use. If you use your bicycle in the rain or snow, or if you ride on paths, more frequent maintenance is required. If any piece is damaged, inspect it and repair it immediately or talk to your dealer.



ORBEA RECOMMENDATIONS

Never forget that taking care of nature is everybody's responsibility. If you consider yourself a nature lover, do not go off paths or trails or ride through prairies or meadows. Always respect all living beings that cross your path, be they people or animals. Always grant them the right of way.

The best show of your good manners and sense of civic responsibility is to ensure that the only evidence of your ride through nature be the wonderful memories you have created. If we all practice our favorite sport in perfect harmony with others and with nature, we will be able to do so for many, many years to come.

ADDITIONAL QUALITY GUARANTEE

Orbea bicycles comply with the following safety standards: EN 14766 Mountain bicycles EN 14781 Road racing bibycles EN 14761 Utility bicycles



Since 1995, Orbea has been awarded ISO 9001 and IQNET quality assurance certification.



Orbea has satisfied the ISO 14001 Environmental Standard since March 2004.

www.orbea.com



GONTENT

GEOMETRY AND SPECIFICATIONS	
FRAME MATERIAL AND CARE	4
PARTS AND HARDWARE	
TORQUE SPECIFICATIONS	9
DRBEA WARRANTY	1
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	12

GEOMETRY AND SPECIFICATIONS

SIZES (mm)	16,5	18	19,5
1) Seat tube	420	455	495
2) Top tube (EFF)	582	606	635
3) Head tube	115	120	135
4)Chain stay		420	
5) BB offset	-7/-14 (geometry change)		
6) BB height	345/438		
7) Wheelbase	1148	1172	1204
8) Head angle	66,5°/66° (geometry change)		
9)Seat angle	75°/74,5° (geometry change)		
10)Standover	750	770	790
11) Reach	419	442	467
12) Stack	606	611	624
13) Fork length		554,4	

SIZE (mm)	16,5	18	19,5
Crank	170	170	170
Stem	50*	50*	70**
Handlebar	760**	760**	760**

HEIGHT (cm)	SIZES
S	16
Μ	18
L	19,5

*Rallon X30 en todas las tallas Manillar de 750 y en tallas S y M Potencia de 60.

**Rallon XTeam y Rallon XLTD en talla L Potencia de 65.



9

*geometry change





FRAME AND MATERIAL

Orbea frames are carefully designed to be durable, efficient, and easy to maintain. Rallon tubes are stiff and light, giving excellent steering precision and pedaling efficiency. Rallon carbon frame is extremely resistant to corrosion, making it perfect for road. With only a minimum amount of maintenance, it's easy to keep your Rallon in top condition.

1) Keep your mountain bike clean

Washing your bike with mild soap and water will keep you looking stylish and allow you to check the condition of the frame and components. Dont's use high water pressure and avoid spraying water into bearings or frame tubes. Citrus degreasers are biodegradeable and do a great job of removing dirty grease from gears and chain.

2) Keep your mountain bike lubed

Once your bike is clean, it's a good time to put fresh lube on the chain. Use only enough to get inside the links and wipe off any excess because it will attract dirt. Headset and pivot bearings should be inspected every few months for smoothness and to ensure that the seals are intact and lube is clean.

3) Inspect your mountain bike before you ride

Do a quick check before every ride to make sure your bike is in excellent condition. It is very common to discover small issues at home that can become big problems on the trail. CHAIN Is the chain dirty, noisy or dry? Clean and lube your chain before riding. BRAKES Check your brakes to make sure they are working correctly. Check for missing/loose caliper and rotor bolts. TIRES Look for damage to the sidewalls of your tires. Check and adjust tire pressure. WHEELS Spin the wheels and look for wobbles, check for loose or broken spokes. Check guick release levers to make sure they are functioning properly. FRONT END Stand over the saddle, pull on the brakes and rock the bike back and forth. Feel for any play or knocking that might indicate a loose headset, loose brake rotors or calipers, or worn fork bushings. TEST RIDE Take a quick ride up and down the street to make sure your bike is shifting and braking properly. Listen for unusual noises.

AFTER A CRASH OR IMPACT

Falling is part of riding and it's impossible to avoid minor accidents. If you crash your Rallon, please make sure you are okay and seek medical attention if necessary. If you are not injured, you should check your bike before continuing:

1) Inspect your frame and components for damage. Do not ride your bike if any problems are detected.

WHAT TO LOOK FOR

Inspect Frame and fork for evidence of cracking or bending. If cracks are discovered, discontinue use immediately.

Check the drivetrain and spin the wheels to make sure components are operating correctly. If you discover damage to your components, discontinue use immediately.

Even if you don't find any damage, pay careful attention to the sound of your bike when you continue riding. Unusual noises can be caused by cracks or other problems. A well-maintained bike will be quiet and free of creaks or squeaks. Investigate and locate the source of any new noises. **2) Bring your bike to your Orbea dealer for professional inspection.** Some damage can only be detected by disassembling the bike to check for cracks or other signs of stress.

A crash or impact can put extraordinary stress on your bike and components, causing them to fail or to fatigue prematurely. Failure can happen suddenly with no warning, causing loss of control, serious injury or death.

PARTS & HARDWARE



9				200	D D
	3 4	10	11	4	12

Number	Name/Description
1	12 MM THRU AXLE
2	12 MM AXLE WASHER
3	OCP NUT
4	BEARING 26X17X5
5	LEFT DROPOUT
6	LEFT DROPOUT INSERT
7	RIGHT DROPOUT INSERT
8	HANGER

Number	Name/Description		
3	OCP NUT		
4	BEARING 26X17X5		
9	9 MM THRU AXLE		
10	LEFT DROPOUT 9 MM		
11	RIGHT DROPOUT 9 MM		
12	OCP RIGHT NUT 9 MM		



Number	Name/Description
4	BEARING 26X17X5
13	MAIN PIVOT AXLE
14	MAIN PIVOT O-RING
15	MAIN PIVOT SPACER
16	M6X20
17	BEARING 24X15X5
18	MAIN PIVOT WASHER

Number	Name/Description
19	SEATSTAY/LINK SPACER
20	BEARING 19X10X5
21	SEATSTAY/LINK BOLT



Number	Name/Description	Number	Name/Description
19	SEATSTAY/LINK SPACER	17	BEARING 24X15X5
20	BEARING 19X10X5	24	STANDARD SHOCK SPACER
22	LINK/FRONT TRIANGLE BOLT	24	BOS KIRK SHOCK SPACER
		25	LINK/SHOCK BOLT



	29	29
33 39		
	0	
	30	30 30
32 38	40 29	37
	33 34 31	

Number	Name/Description
29	M5X15
30	DOWNTUBE CABLE GUIDE
31	DOWNTUBE PROTECTOR
32	CHAINSTAY PROTECTOR
33	SEATSTAY PROTECTOR
34	ISCG05 ADAPTER
35	ISCG ADAPTER BOLT (M6X15)
36	SEAT POST CLAMP
37 (S)	FRONT TRIANGLE (16,5")
37 (M)	FRONT TRIANGLE (18")
37 (L)	FRONT TRIANGLE (19,5")
38	CHAINSTAY
39	SEATSTAYS
40	LINK

Number	Name/Description
26	SHOCK/FRONT TRIANGLE NUT
27	SHOCK/FRONT TRIANGLE WASHER
28	SHOCK/FRONT TRIANGLE BOLT

TORQUE SPECS





	RALLI	DN TORQUE SPECIFICATIONS	
Fastener	Required tools	Torque	Note
1	Dropout nut	22 mm spanner	15 Nm
2	12 mm axle	6 mm allen	20 Nm
3	Seatstay/link bolt	5 mm allen	15 Nm
4	Shock/link bolt	8 mm + 5 mm allen	15 Nm
5	Shock/front triangle bolt	4 mm allen	6 Nm
6	Cable guide	4 mm allen	4 Nm
7	Link/front triangle bolt	5 mm allen	15 Nm
8	ISCG bolts	-	10 Nm
9	ISCG adapter bolt	5 mm allen	10 Nm
10	Main pivot axle	10 mm allen	20 Nm
11	Main pivot pinch bolt	5 mm allen	10 Nm



CHECKING AND ADJUSTING TORQUE

Orbea suggest using a TORQUE WRENCH to avoid overtightening and damaging fasteners or hardware. Check torque frequently and keep all threads clean and properly greased to ensure accurate torque measurement... Aluminium Orbea frames are carefully designed to be durable, efficient and easy to care for. The over-sized, hydroformed tubes are stiff and light, giving excellent steering precision and pedaling efficiency. Aluminium is extremely resistant to corrosion, making it perfect for riding off road. With only a minimum amount of maintenande, it's easy to keep your Rallon in top condition.

1) Keep your Railon clean

Washing your bike with mild soap and water will keep you looking stylish and allow you to check the condition of the frame and components. Dont's use high water pressure and avoid spraying water into bearings or frame tubes. Citrus degreasers are biodegradeable and do a great job of removing dirty grease from gears and chain.

2) Keep your Railon lubed

Once your bike is clean, it's a good time to put fresh lube on the chain. Use only enough to get inside the links and wipe off any excess because it will attract dirt. Headset and pivot bearings should be inspected every few months for smoothness and to ensure that the seals are intact and lube is clean.

3) Inspect your Rallon before you ride

Do a quick check before every ride to make sure your bike is in excellent condition. It is very common to discover small issues at home that can become big problems on the trail. CHAIN Is the chain dirty, noisy or dry? Clean and lube your chain before riding. BRAKES Check your brakes to make sure they are working correctly. Check for missing/loose caliper and rotor bolts. TIRES Look for damage to the sidewalls of your tires. Check and adjust tire pressure. WHEELS Spin the wheels and look for wobbles, check for loose or broken spokes. Check quick release levers to make sure they are functioning properly. FRONT END Stand over the saddle, pull on the brakes and rock the bike back and forth. Feel for any play or knocking that might indicate a loose headset, loose brake rotors or calipers, or worn fork bushings. TEST RIDE Take a quick ride up and down the street to make sure your bike is shifting and braking properly. Listen for unusual noises.



PRESSURE AND REBOUND CLICKS: The values provided in the chart are just a starting point, in order to achieve maximum performance the shock setup should be suited to the rider and terrain. COMPRESSION ADJUSTMENT FOR KIRK SHOCK: 12 clicks counted from completely open is the recomended starting point both for low speed and high speed compresion damping.

	FOX FLOAT		BOS	KIRK
Rider weight (kg)	Pressure (psi)	Rebound clicks (counting from completely open)	Pressure (psi)	Rebound clicks (counting from completely open)
60	100	0	135	0
65	115	2	145	3
70	130	4	160	6
75	150	5	175	8
80	170	6	190	10
85	180	7	200	12
90	185	8	210	15
95	195	9	220	17
100	205	10	230	21
105	215	11	240	25

ORBEA WARRANTY





HOW DO I ACTIVATE MY LIFETIME WARRANTY?

Orbea provides a lifetime warranty on all its frames. Only a brand that knows the materials, masters the technologies and has the skills can guarantee that your frame is totally invincible. Only Orbea takes you a step beyond.

Orbea's lifetime warranty is activated using the registration number you will find on all frames from the 2009 range onwards. When you have activated it at your dealer or at www.orbea.com, your bike will automatically receive its lifetime warranty. The registration number is a unique, non-transferable code that you will find on the underside of your bike's downtube. Activate your frame's warranty using this number at your dealer's or at www.orbea.com.

WHAT ARE THE ADVANTAGES?

Lifetime guarantee of your frame against breakage.

Two-year guarantee on all components.

Identification of your bicycle and all its characteristics to our Technical Assistance Service so that wecan provide our best response to any problems. Access to special offers, events and prize drawings.

ORBEA WARRANTY

The ongoing efforts we make at Orbea to design highend bicycles enable us to provide customerswith the following warranty:

1) We back each frame and rigid fork in our bicycles with a lifetime warranty against materials and manufacturing defects. Frames with travel longer than 170 mm are covered by a 2-year warranty. We warrant each frame and fork in our bikes against paint or varnish defects and corrosion for 3 years. This warranty covers the original purchaser only and is non-transferable. For the lifetime warranty to be valid, customers must fill in the online warranty form within one month of purchase, and proof of purchase in the form of cash register receipt or sales ticket is required.

2) Warranty claims are subject to the decision made by our technical staff about the nature of the defect after thorough inspection of the faulty part.

3) All the parts assembled in our bicycles are protected against assembly or manufacturing defects for 2 years, and repairs qualifying under this warranty will be performed by authorized dealers in each country.

4) This warranty does not cover parts that naturally wear over time, such as tires, brake pads, handlebar grips, cranksets, bearings, etc.

5) This warranty does not cover damages or defects caused by negligence, improper use, assembly ofparts or accessories that are not original, or defective repair or maintenance work. of the bicycle, nonoriginal accessories being fitted to it, or unsuitable maintenance operations or handling.

6) This warranty includes only replacement or repair coverage of the parts under it and in no case shall it cover personal damages directly or indirectly caused by the failure of said parts during use.

7) All claims must be reported to an authorized dealer. In case there is no such a dealer near the buyer's location, please contact Orbea so that we can decide how to solve the problem.

8) In case of crashes, the Orbea warranty shall be considered null and void.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Orbea participates actively on facebook and Twitter with our fantastic global community of riders. Looking to find spots to ride or plan a vacation? Someone will have the answers:

FACEBOOK

www.facebook.com/OrbeaBicycles

TWITTER

https://twitter.com/Orbea/

TECH VIDEOS

Visit our Orbea Channel on YouTube for a variety of helpful setup and tech videos:

http://www.youtube.com/user/OrbeaBicycles/

INSTAGRAM

instagram.com/orbeabicycles

ORBEA CONTENT

View and download photos, videos and documents.

http://content.orbea.com/

YOUR ORBEA DEALER

Our dealers are experts and should be able to assist you with setting up and maintaining your Orbea bicycle. A complete listing of Orbea dealers and distributors can be located on our website:

http://www.orbea.com/int-en/dealers/?country=INT/

AFTER SALES SERVICE

Our service technicians are trained to handle any questions you might have about your Orbea bicycle.

mailto:Orbea@Orbea.com







200 2200 1		-00000	Loopor
Sugge	ested Sag Measu	irements	
Travel	15% sag (Firm)	20% s	sag (Plush)
5.9 in./150mm	.88 in./22mm	1.2 in	./30mm
6.3 in./160mm	.95 in./24mm	1.3 in	./32mm

Suggested Startin	g Points for Settir	ng Sag	
Rider Weight Ibs/k	gs	150mm	160mm
≤125	≤57	85psi	85psi
125 - 135	57 - 61	90psi	90psi
135 - 145	61 - 66	100psi	100psi
145 - 155	66 - 70	120psi	120psi
155 - 170	70 - 77	130psi	130psi
170 - 185	77 - 84	135psi	135psi
185 - 200	84 - 91	145psi	145psi
200 - 215	91 - 98	165psi	165psi
215 - 230	98 - 104	180psi	180psi
230 - ≥250	104 - ≥113	200psi	200psi

 If you have a Remote CTD fork, click the black release lever once to set the fork to Descend mode. 7. Dressed to ride (including a filled hydration pack, if you use one), position your bike next to a wall or table to support yourself. Mount your bicycle. Assume your riding position for at least 10 seconds, allowing the suspension to fully settle. Make sure you distribute your weight evenly between the saddle, handlebars and pedals.

Dismount your bike without bouncing, to avoid further moving the o-ring or zip tie. Measure the distance between the dust wiper and the o-ring or zip tie. This is your sag measurement. Suggested sag measurements are listed in the table below.

10. Add or remove air pressure until your sag measurement is between 15-20% of your forks total travel.

8. While in your riding position, slide the o-ring (or zip tie) down against the fork dust wiper.

12. When sag measurement is correct, screw the blue air cap on clockwise until snug.

11. Repeat steps 2-8 and recheck sag measurement.

6. Rotate the CTD lever to the Descend mode (the riders 1 o'clock position).



4. Pump your fork to the appropriate pressure as listed in the 'Suggested starting points for setting sag' table below, then remove the pump.

. Make sure your CTD fork is in Descend mode (fully counter-clockwise).

Starting with the rebound adjuster fully open (counter-clockwise) push on the fork to compress it and feel its return speed.
 Increase rebound damping by turning the red rebound knob in clockwise until when tested, the fork returns quickly but does not top out.
 Top out is felt when a fork fully extends too quickly and comes to an abrupt stop when it reaches full extension (you will hear/feel a small noise). Top out should be avoided through proper rebound setting.

Climb, Trail, Descend

Easy on-the-fly adjustments for unprecedented control and performance

The blue CTD lever lets you to switch between the Climb, Trail, and Descend modes. Each mode is optimized for each specific type of terrain, providing exceptional performance and riding enjoyment with your fork. CTD allows for complete rider control as one can experiment using different modes on various different types of terrain.

Climb Mode:



Rotate the blue CTD lever fully clockwise to set the fork in Climb mode. Climb mode is a very firm low-speed compression setting (not designed to be a solid lockout). This setting is most useful for climbing and sprinting.

Trail Mode:



Rotate the blue CTD lever to the middle setting to set the fork in Trail mode. Trail mode offers less compression damping than Climb mode. Use this setting when pedaling on undulating terrain, and for preventing excessive travel in technical riding situations (such as low-speed drops). Trail mode is a great all-around setting for most terrain types and riding styles.

Descend Mode





The CTD Remote lets you to switch between the Climb, Trail, and Descend modes while riding. Each mode is optimized for a specific type of terrain, providing best performance and riding enjoyment. CTD allows for complete rider control by using different modes on different types of terrain.

Climb Mode:

• Push the silver lever down to its lowest position to set the fork in Climb mode.

Climb mode is a very firm low-speed compression setting (not designed to be a solid lockout). This setting is most useful for climbing and sprinting.

Trail Mode:

From Climb mode, push the black release lever once and then push the silver lever down one click to the middle position to engage Trail mode.

From Descend mode, push the silver lever down one click to the middle position to engage Trail mode.

Trail mode offers less compression damping than Climb mode. Use this setting when pedaling on undulating terrain, and for preventing excessive travel in technical riding situations (such as low-speed drops). Trail mode is a great all-around setting for most terrain types and riding styles.

Descend Mode:

• Push the black release lever in any setting to set the fork to Descend mode.

Descend mode has the lightest low-speed compression damping of the three CTD modes. Descend mode offers the most plush ride to ensure optimal traction over varied terrain.

Using the TALAS Travel Adjustable Air Spring

Precise Travel Adjustments Offer Great Control

TALAS forks give you the option to switch between two travel settings while riding.

Long Travel Mode:



Turning the TALAS lever toward the "+" (clockwise) sets your fork in the long travel mode. When adjusting to long travel mode, your fork will extend once unweighted.

Short Travel Mode:



REDEFINING RIDE DYNAMICS

SHOCK- 2014 FLOAT CTD



Travel

6.00 x 1.25 6.50 x 1.50 7.25 x 1.75 7.50 x 2.00 7.875 x 2.00 7.875 x 2.25 8.50 x 2.50

Features/Adjustments

Factory FLOAT CTD w/Adj BV; Kashima Coated or anodized air sleeve and body, lever actuated Climb/Trail/Descend (3 position), Trail adjust range (1, 2, 3), rebound, air spring pressure Factory FLOAT CTD Remote BV; Kashima Coated or anodized air sleeve body, remote actuated Climb/Trail/Descend (3 position), rebound, air spring pressure. Performance FLOAT CTD BV: Anodized air sleeve and body, lever actuated Climb/Trail/Descend (3 position), rebound, air spring pressure.

Evolution FLOAT CTD Remote: Anodized air sleeve and body, remote actuated Climb/Trail/Descend (3 position), rebound, air spring pressure.

Evolution FLOAT CTD; Anodized air sleeve and body, lever actuated Climb/Trail/Descend (3 position), rebound, air spring pressure.

Spring

Air

Riding style

Sections

- Installing Your Shock
- Before You Ride
- Setting Snock Air Pre
- Climb Trail Descen
- Adjusting Trail Mode
- Using the CTD R

Service Interva

Installing Your Shock

Check for clearance before riding.

If you are installing your shock on a bike for which the shock was not original equipement, follow the steps below to ensure proper clearance before riding.

- 1. Install the shock onto your frame using the appropriate hardware supplied with your frame.
- Remove the air cap and let all air out of the main air cham
- Carefully and slowly compress the suspension through its entire travel.
- Check that no part of your shock contacts any portion of your frame or linkage as it cycles through its trave
- 5. Pressurize your main air chamber to between 50-300psi to prepare to set sag as described in the "Setting Shock Air Pressure" section below.

Before You Ride

Make sure that your shock is ready to ride

- Clean the outside of your shock with mild soan and water and wine dry with a soft ran
- **Do not** use any solvents or de-greasers as these products can damage the shock's exterior fini
- Do not use a high pressure washer or spray water directly at the seal/shock body junction.

- ur shock. The shock should not be used if any of the exterior parts appear to be damaged ct the exterior of v
- Contact your local FOX dealer or FOX directly for further inspection or repair. Make sure that your quick-release levers (or thru-axles) are properly adjusted and tightened.

- Check that all brake cables or hoses are properly fastened. Test the proper operation of your front and rear brakes on lever ground.

Setting Shock Air Pressure

FLOAT CTD shocks have a maximum pressure of 300psi

Sag should be set to 15 - 20% of total shock travel





- Dressed to ride (including a filled hydration pack. if you use one), position your bike next to a wall or table to support yourself. Mount your bicycle. Assume your riding position for at least 10 seconds, allowing the suspension to fully settle. Make sure you distribute your weight evenly between the saddle, handlebars and pedals.

- Dismount your bike without bouncing, to avoid further moving the o-ring. Measure the distance between the dust wiper and the o-ring. This is your sag measurement. Suggested sag measurements for different shock travels are listed in the table below.
- Repear steps 2-6 and recheck sag measurement.

When sag me	asurement is correct, s	crew the black air cap on o
Su	ggested Sag Measu	rements
Shock Travel	15% Sag (Firm)	20% Sag (Plush)
1.00 in./25mm	0.15 in./3.7mm	0.20 in/5.0mm
1.25 in./32mm	0.19 in./4.8mm	0.25 in/6.4mm
1.50 in./38mm	0.23 in./5.7mm	0.30 in/7.6mm
1.75 in./44mm	0.27 in./6.6mm	0.35 in/8.8mm
2.00 in./51mm	0.30 in./7.6mm	0.40 in/10.2mm
2.25 in./57mm	0.34 in./8.5mm	0.45 in/11.4mm
2.50 in./64mm	0.40 in./9.6mm	0.50 in/12.8mm

Adjusting Rebound

Rebound controls how fast the shock extends after compressing



Rebound controls the rate of speed at which the shock extends after compressing. Turning the red rebound knob clockwise (in) slows down rebound, turning the red rebound knob counter-clockwise (out) speeds up rebound. Rebound damping should only be set after first setting your air pressure by measuring sag.

1. Make sure your CTD adjuster is set in Descend mode (fully counter-clockwise).

2. Starting with the rebound adjuster in the fully open position (counter-clockwise) push down on the saddle to compress the shock and feel its return speed.

3. Increase rebound damping by turning the red rebound knob clockwise (when viewed from the end of the shock with the air valve) until when tested, the shock returns quickly but does not top out. Fop out is felt when a shock fully extends too quickly and comes to an abrupt stop when it reaches full extension (you will hear/feel a small noise). Top out should be avoided through proper rebound setting

Climb, Trail, Descend

Easy on-the-fly adjustments for unprecedented control and performance

The blue CTD lever lets you to switch between the Climb. Trail, and Descend modes. Each mode is optimized for each specific type of terrain, providing exceptional performance and riding enjoyment with your shock. CTD allows for complete rider control as one can experiment using different modes on various different types of terrain.

Climb Mode:



Rotate the blue CTD lever fully clockwise to set the shock in Climb mode. Climb mode is a very firm low-speed compression setting (not designed to be a solid lockout). This setting is most useful for climbing and sprinting.

Trail Mode:



Rotate the blue CTD lever to the middle setting to set the shock in Trail mode. Trail mode offers less compression damping than Climb mode. Use this setting when pedaling on undulating terrain, and for preventing excessive travel in technical riding situations (such as low-speed drops). Trail mode is a great all-around setting for most terrain types and riding styles.

Descend Mode:



Rotate the blue CTD lever fully counter-clockwise to set the shock to Descend mode. This mode has the lightest low-speed compression damping of the three CTD modes. Descend mode offers the most plush ride to ensure optimal traction over varied terrain.

Adjusting Trail Mode

FLOAT CTD w/Adj models allow for added fine tuning



FLOAT CTD w/Adj model shocks feature a three-position Trail Adjust control that regulates low-speed compression damping only in Trail mode. 1 is the softest setting, 2 is the medium setting, and 3 is the firmest setting. To adjust Trail mode, first gently pull out on the black Trail adjust knob and turn it, lining up the arrow with your desired Trail mode setting number.



Service Intervals

